In the Supreme Court of the State of Nevada

Jemar Demon Matthews,

Appellant,

v.

The State of Nevada,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Jul 29 2019 01:49 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court Supreme Court Case No.: 77751

Appeal from Judgment of Conviction of Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, in Case No.: 06C288460-2

Appellant Jemar Matthews's Opening Brief

/s/ Todd M. Leventhal

Leventhal and Associates, PLLC Todd M. Leventhal, Esq. NV Bar No. 8543 626 South Third Street Las Vegas, NV 89101 <u>Leventhalandassociates@gmail.com</u> (702)472-8686 Attorney for Appellant

Jurisdictional and Routing Statement

This direct appeal follows a judgment of conviction entered after a jury trial. This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal as a final judgment or verdict in a criminal case under NRS § 177.015.3. This appeal is presumptively retained by the Nevada Supreme Court because (1) this is an appeal from a judgment of conviction based on a guilty verdict that involves a conviction for a category A felony for which a sentence of life with the possibility of parole was imposed and (2) this appeal challenges the conviction (and not merely the sentence) and is not based solely on a sufficiency of the evidence challenge. NRAP 17(b)(2).

Statement of Issues

- I. Did the district court err by summarily accepting the state's reasons for striking a minority juror and denying Matthews's *Batson* challenge?
- II. Did the district court err by allowing a lay police officer witness to give scientific testimony?
- III. Did the district court err by refusing to allow a newly discovered and belatedly noticed defense witness to testify when the defense did not act in bad faith and the state would not have been prejudiced?

- IV. Did the state commit plain prosecutorial misconduct in closing argument and rebuttal by vouching for its lead witnesses?
- V. Did the trial errors, taken cumulatively, prejudice Matthews and require a new trial?

Statement of the Case

A. Mersey Williams is murdered on September 30, 2006.

This is an appeal from a retrial in a first-degree murder case. Around 9:00 p.m. on September 30, 2006, Mersey Williams, Myniece Cook, and Michel-le Tolefree went to Maurice Hickman's home located at 1271 Balzar Avenue in Las Vegas. 1 AA 107. As the women and Hickman stood in Hickman's front yard, four to five males approached and opened fire on the group, ultimately killing Mersey Williams and wounding Myniece Cook. 1 AA 118.

Moments later, three to four black men carjacked two couples parking a Lincoln town car at 1284 Lawry Avenue, about one block from 1271 Balzar. 1 AA 159, 164–66. After ordering the passengers out of the car, the assailants drove the Lincoln down Lawry Avenue, turning left on Martin Luther King Drive. 3 AA 173.

Meanwhile, Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department Officers Brian Walter and Bradley Cupp were patrolling the area and heard gunfire. 1 AA 303. The officers drove by 1271 Balzar, but observed no signs of trouble, so they continued on down Lawry, where they saw a "commotion," at 1284 Lawry (the carjacking). 1 AA 303. Their suspicions aroused, the officers followed the Lincoln, which rolled through a red light. 1 AA 306–08. The officers then

3

activated their patrol lights and sirens; the suspects accelerated through the next red light, and the officers gave chase. 1 AA 308–09.

The chase continued to a church parking lot near the corner of Eleanor Avenue and Lexington Street, where the Lincoln slowed down; the driver, who was holding a sawed-off shotgun, fell or jumped out of the car. 1 AA 311–12. The police car hit the driver, who rolled up onto the driver's side hood of the police car (Officer Cupp's side) for a "brief second" before rolling off on the passenger side (Officer Walter's side) and taking off on foot. 3 AA 637–39.

In addition to the driver, two other black men jumped out of the passenger side of the Lincoln, one from the front and one from the back. 3 AA 641. Officer Cupp elected to chase the front passenger, who was armed with a handgun, while Officer Walter chased the driver. 3 AA 641. The third suspect, who appeared to be unarmed, ran Westbound across the church parking lot with no officer in pursuit. 3 AA 641.

Officer Walter chased the driver north on Lexington Street and then East on Eleanor Avenue, where he lost sight of the driver after the driver jumped over a chain-link fence. 1 AA 319. Meanwhile, Officer Cupp watched the front passenger jump over a wall and pursued him into an apartment complex. There, police found him hiding in a dumpster, along with a pair of black baseball gloves and a .45-caliber Glock. 2 AA 502–03; 3 AA 648–49. The passenger was identified as Pierre Joshlin.

Police recovered a jammed .45-caliber Colt pistol from the Lincoln, and a .22 caliber rifle from the grass between the Lincoln and the church. 2 AA 491–93, 495. Police also found a single red-knit glove about one block north of the church. 2 AA 497. Police set up a parameter around the neighborhood to search for the still-missing suspects.

About an hour to an hour and a half after the foot chase began, a K9 unit found Jemar Matthews hiding in the bushes behind a house at 1116 Jimmy Avenue. 1 AA 397. The dog attacked Matthews, biting him and drawing blood. 1 AA 398. Matthews was then transported in handcuffs and a police car to Officer Walter, who identified him as the suspect driver. 1 AA 329–30.

B. Jemar Matthews and Pierre Joshlin are jointly tried and convicted of the murder and related crimes.

In May of 2007, Matthews and Joshlin were tried for the murder of Mersey Williams and related crimes. At trial, a toolmark analyst testified that ten of the 39 cartridge cases recovered from 1271 Balzar were fired from the Glock found with Joshlin in the dumpster.¹ Eleven, including the bullet that killed Mersey Williams,

¹ This factual summary of the evidence at the first trial is offered for background purposes only and is derived from the federal district court's orders in *Joshlin v*.

were fired by the rifle found near the Lincoln. Officers Cupp and Walter identified Matthews and Joshlin as the suspects they had chased, while the surviving shooting and carjacking victims were unable to identify Matthews.² A forensic analyst also testified that gunshot residue was recovered from one of the black gloves in the dumpster with Joshlin and on the red glove found on the sidewalk near where the foot chase began. To explain his presence in the area and his hiding from police, Matthews offered a temporary protective order prohibiting his presence at Jimmy Avenue. The jury convicted both men on all counts, and each received a sentence of life in prison.

Over the next several years, both men unsuccessfully appealed their convictions, ultimately filing post-conviction petitions in federal district court.³ In August of 2016, a federal district court judge denied Joshlin's petition based on her finding that any trial errors were harmless in light of the "overwhelming" evidence against him.⁴ In March of 2017, a different federal district court judge granted Matthews's petition. She found, as did this Court, that the state had committed

Neven, 2016 WL 4491503 (D. Nev. Aug. 25, 2016) (Dorsey, J.), Case No. 2:13-cv-01014-JAD-NJK and *Matthews v. Neven*, 250 F.Supp.3d 751 (D. Nev. 2017), Case No. 2:14-cv-00472-GMN-PAL.

² Tolefree was able to identify Joshlin.

³ See Nevada Supreme Court Case Nos. 49947, 58881, 62241, 50052; U.S. District Court Case Nos. 2:14-cv-00472-GMN-PAL (Matthews), 2:13-cv-01014-JAD-NJK (Joshlin).

⁴ Joshlin, 2016 WL 4491503, *1.

prosecutorial misconduct in closing argument and rebuttal by telling the jurors to look at Matthews and Joshlin—both of whom are black men—and arguing that they did not "look" innocent.⁵ The judge also found that the state committed misconduct by arguing that if the defendants weren't guilty, then they wouldn't be challenging the gunshot-residue evidence.

But the federal district court judge disagreed that these errors were harmless, distinguishing the state's case against Matthews from that against Joshlin:

The evidence against Matthews—while sufficient to support his convictions, if viewed in the light most favorable to the State[]—had obvious weaknesses and was far from overwhelming. Unlike Joshlin, who was found in a dumpster with a handgun linked to the shooting, there was no evidence directly linking Matthews to either the shooting or the robbery. About an hour to an hour and a half after the foot chase ended, Matthews was found hiding in a backyard about a block from where the foot chase ended, and some four to five blocks from where the shooting and robbery occurred. The defense suggested, and it remains a possibility, that Matthews had reason to fear apprehension by police other than—and less egregious than—having participated in the shooting and robbery [, the TPO].⁶

The judge also reasoned that many of the victim-witnesses' descriptions did not

match Matthews. Additionally, Officers Walter and Cupp had a limited

opportunity to view the fleeing suspect that both would later identify as Matthews,

⁵ *Matthews*, 250 F. Supp.3d at 763.

⁶ *Id.* at 765.

and Walter's description of that suspect appeared to grow more detailed (and more consistent with Matthews) over time.⁷

C. The retrial

Matthews's second trial commenced in September of 2018—twelve years after the murder. The evidence at the second trial was largely the same as that presented during the first trial. Below is a brief summary as relevant to this appeal.

1. Jury selection

During jury selection, the state exercised its fifth peremptory strike to remove prospective Juror No. 342, a black woman. 1 AA 58. Matthews made a *Batson* challenge, arguing that the state had impermissibly struck No. 342 due to her race. Before the court ruled on whether Matthews had made a prima facie showing of discrimination, the state interjected and proffered a race-neutral reason: it claimed that No. 342 gave "tenuous" responses when asked about being fair and impartial and that she "kind of hesitated and rolled her eyes." 1 AA 59. Matthews disputed the state's assertions and argued that they were merely pretext. 1 AA 60. The district court made no specific findings and summarily overruled Matthews's objection. 1 AA 62.

⁷ *Id.* at 766.

2. The state's case

The state's first witnesses were Myniece Cook and Michel-le Tolefree Myniece testified that she saw four to five silhouettes but could not identify their race or any clothing. 1 AA 118–19. Tolefree was able to identify Joshlin but not Matthews. 1 AA 139.

Two of the carjacking victims, Melvin Bolden and Geishe Bolden (Orduno) also testified. Melvin Bolden testified that there were three to four assailants, all black males between 17–18 years old, and all wearing black T-shirts and blue jeans or black pants. 1 AA 164–68. Two of the men had black and red gloves on. 1 AA 169. Melvin described the suspect who got into the driver's seat as 5'7" or shorter (Matthews is five feet eleven inches tall), and indicated that he would not be able to identify any of the assailants. 1 AA 178. Geishe testified that there were four assailants; one was wearing a white shirt while the rest were in black. 1 AA 194. One man was wearing red gloves and was 5'5" or possibly a little taller. 1 AA 199.

Forensic scientist Crystina Vachon testified about gunshot residue. She testified that gunshot residue (particles containing a fusion of lead, barium, and antimony) was present on the black gloves from the dumpster, the red glove, and Joshlin and Matthews's hands. 1 AA 259–268. As to Matthews, that included three partial particles on the right palm; one partial particle on the back of the left

hand; and one partial particle on the back of the left hand. 1 AA 260, 269 (when looking for gunshot residue, looking for a fusion of three elements: barium, led, and antimony). Matthews cross-examined Vachon about possible transfer of gunshot residue and possible issues with contamination and preservation, which she acknowledged. 1 AA 271–79.

The lynchpin of the state's case was the testimony of Officers Walter and Cupp. Officer Walter identified Matthews as the suspect driver, who he recalled was wearing blue jean shorts, a black t-shirt, and a red glove. 1 AA 319. He further testified that, on the night of the shooting, he recognized the driver based on previous interactions in the neighborhood, though he wasn't then-sure of his name. 1 AA 313–14.

On cross-examination, Walter admitted that he did not tell homicide detectives during his interview on the night of the shooting that he recognized the suspect driver from previous interactions. 1 AA 347. He also admitted that he had previously stated that he caught only a "glimpse" of the suspect whom he now claimed to have seen face to face. 1 AA 348. Finally, Walter acknowledged that his description of the suspect had grown more detailed over time and that on the night of the shooting, he communicated over the police radio that the suspect was wearing jeans, not shorts. 1 AA 353. For his part, Cupp identified Matthews as the suspect driver. 3 AA 639. He also indicated that on the night of the shooting he recognized Matthews from previous interactions, but did not know his name. Like Walter, Cupp acknowledged that, on the night of the murder, he never indicated that he recognized or was familiar with Matthews. 3 AA 675. And although he now claimed to be driving only five to ten miles per hour when he hit the suspect he identified as Matthews, Cupp acknowledged that he previously testified that he

Now-Sergeant Chad Overson, the K9 handler who ultimately found Matthews hiding in the bushes at 1116 Jimmy Avenue, also testified. Overson testified about his dog, Lasco's, training. He explained that first the dogs are trained to find other humans, and then, "we get them out on the street and they start to find suspects that they learn to differentiate through time that suspects actually smell a little bit differently from humans" because they omit a chemical called "apocrine." 1 AA 401–402. When a dog smells apocrine as opposed to a "regular human," it will act more aggressively and may bite. 1 AA 401. Overson described how Lasco had detected and bitten Matthews.

The state read the previous trial testimony of toolmark analyst James Krylo into the record. The thrust of Krylo's testimony was that cartridge cases found at 1271 Balzar were consistent with being fired from the Glock found in the dumpster with Joshlin, the .45 Colt recovered from the Lincoln, and the .22 shotgun abandoned by the suspect driver. 2 AA 583–60.

3. Matthews brings a newly discovered defense witness to the court and the state's attention.

Shortly before the close of the state's case, on Monday, October 1, 2018, Matthews notified the court that he had located a potential new witness. Defense counsel represented that, over the weekend, he had been able to make contact with Jomesha Gilchrist, Matthews's girlfriend at the time of the murder. 3 AA 619–20.

The defense team had previously been unable to locate Jomesha, but Matthews's sister had recently found her on Instagram, a social media website. 3 AA 619. Jomesha told defense counsel that she recalled Matthews telling her that he was going to visit his child's mother on the night of the murder. 3 AA 20. Matthews's child's mother's residence (1301 Jimmy Avenue) is the object of the temporary protective order that prohibited him from being at nearby 1116 Jimmy Avenue where he was found hiding from police. 3 AA 695–98; Defense Exhibits E, F.

Defense counsel candidly told the court that he had not since been able to get ahold of Jomesha, and that he was unsure if she could travel from California to Las Vegas because she had recently had a baby. 3 AA 620–21. However, he proffered that Jomesha's testimony about what Matthews told her on the night of the murder would be admissible both as a then existing state of mind and a statement against interest (because Matthews would be subject to punishment for violating the TPO). 3 AA 621. The state objected to the testimony on hearsay grounds and because the defense had not noticed Jomesha as a witness. 3 AA 622. The court made no ruling as to the admissibility of her testimony at that time because it was unclear whether Jomesha was in fact available and willing to testify. 3 AA 22–23.

4. The defense's case

Matthews called two expert witnesses of his own: eyewitness-identification expert Dr. Mark Chambers and a firearms and ballistics expert, Ronald Scott.⁸ Dr. Chambers testified that studies show that up to 80% of wrongful convictions are based on faulty eyewitness testimony. 2 AA 439–40. He explained that a witness's confidence does not equate with reliability; stress, fatigue, and the presence of weapons can negatively impact perception; and that cross-racial identifications are less reliable than intraracial ones. 2 AA 445–32. He also opined that the show-up method used in this case is less reliable than a double blind sequential lineup. 2 AA 454.

⁸ Dr. Chambers testified out of order during the state's case due to scheduling issues.

Expert Scott—an independent forensic consultant with 25 years of lawenforcement experience—testified about gunshot-residue analysis. He explained that he disagreed with the state's expert's opinion as to the red glove because it did not meet FBI standards. 3 AA 705. He also testified about the many possible sources of transfer of gunshot residue in this case, including Matthews's placement in handcuffs and inside police vehicles. 3 AA 707–11. Because Matthews's hands were not "bagged" there was a heightened risk of contamination. 3 AA 715. Finally, he testified that use of gunshot residue in law-enforcement investigations is declining due to contamination, transfer, and reliability issues. 3 AA 710–14.

5. Matthews moves to allow his recently disclosed witness to testify.

Before closing arguments began, defense counsel notified the court that he had again spoken with Jomesha Gilchrist. 4 AA 763. Because she was unable to travel to Las Vegas due to recently giving birth, the defense requested that she be allowed to testify telephonically. 4 AA 763. The parties reiterated their respective hearsay and notice arguments. The state argued that the defense failed to notice Jomesha as a witness or to provide notice of intent to use audio/visual testimony. The state also argued that Jomesha would be a quasi-alibi witness for which no alibi notice was provided and that her testimony would open up a whole

14

"Pandora's box of doors." 4 AA 765. The court sustained the state's objection "based on the lack of notice," but did not explain under which theory. 4 AA 768.

6. Closing arguments

The state argued at length in closing about the testimony of Officers Cupp and Walter—the only witnesses who identified Matthews: "when you are considering the reliability or believability of the identification of Officer Cupp and Officer Walter, think how different they are to just the ordinary observer. 4 AA 797. They are "two police officers," who "have actual training and experience chasing bad guys." 4 AA 797. She continued: "It's their job to observe." I am not a "paid observer" but "police officers, when they clock in that's their job all the way until they clock out. So, yeah, they are trained observers." 4 AA 797. "A trained observer who is paid to run towards danger as opposed to the ordinary person, civilians like ourselves" is more reliable. 4 AA 687. She asked whether Cupp and Walter struck the jury as "a type of officers who want to put away the wrong person?" 4 AA 799.

In closing, defense counsel acknowledged the tragic death of Mersey Williams. He did not attempt to challenge that a murder had occurred, or that the carjackers Cupp and Walter chased were the murderers. 4 AA 807. The sole issue was whether Matthews was there at all. He pointed out that the eyewitness descriptions given by the carjacking victims were inconsistent with Matthews's appearance. 4 AA 808. Also, that Officers Cupp and Walter had limited opportunity to view the suspect driver during the car chase and brief foot pursuit. 4 AA 809. Their later identifications of Matthews were tainted not only by this limited opportunity to view the true suspect, but also by the suggestive show-up technique. 4 AA 815.

The defense reminded the jury about the fallibility of gunshot-residue evidence and the possibility of transfer and contamination. 4 AA 819–20. Also, the lack of any real forensic evidence tying Matthews to the murder and that Matthews had no visible physical injuries (aside from the dog bites) despite the suspect being hit by a police car at 10–15 miles per hour. 4 AA 821. Finally, the defense discussed the TPO. The TPO was brought by Matthews's child's mother, who lived on the corner of Jimmy and Lexington, just one block from where Matthews was found hiding. 4 AA 822. Because he was in violation of a TPO, it made sense that Matthews hid when police swarmed the neighborhood.

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