#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JEMAR DEMON MATTHEWS,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Aug 27 2019 03:44 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. 77751

#### **RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

**Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County** 

TODD M. LEVENTHAL, ESQ. Nevada Bar # 008543 Leventhal and Associates, PLLC 626 South Third Street Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 472-8686 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

## II. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN ALLOWING OVERSON'S TESTIMONY REGARDING K9S

Matthews argues that Sergeant Overson improperly testified as an expert witness about K9s. <u>AOB</u> at 31-33. Matthews did not object to this testimony, so plain error applies. This Court reviews "a district court's decision to admit or exclude evidence for an abuse of discretion." <u>Mclellan v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 263, 267, 182 P.3d 106, 109 (2008). When the defendant fails to object at trial, that precludes appellate review of that issue unless there is plain error. <u>Green v. State</u>, 119 Nev. 542, 545, 80 P.3d 93, 95 (2003). Under plain error review, the asserted error must affect the appellant's substantial rights, and "the burden is on the defendant to show actual prejudice or a miscarriage of justice." <u>Id.</u>

Lay witnesses may offer opinion testimony if their opinions are "[r]ationally based on the[ir] perception." NRS 50.265(1). A witness's work-related experience may enable the witness to make a description of what the witness saw, but that is still related to what the witness perceived. Cf. Thompson v. State, 125 Nev. 807, 815, 221 P.3d 708, 714 (2009) (concluding that a witness testifying as to what she perceived was not an "expert" simply because her ability to perceive may have been enhanced by training she had received as an artist); see also, Crowe v. State, 84 Nev. 358, 362, 441 P.2d 90, 92 (1968) ("Lay witnesses... who are sufficiently trained and experienced, may testify at the discretion of the trial court relative to the use and influence of narcotics[.]"), modified on other grounds by Tellis v. State, 84 Nev.

587, 590, 445 P.2d 938, 940 (1968). If a witness's testimony is based on "scientific, technical or other specialized knowledge," then that witness must be qualified as an expert. NRS 50.275.

Here, Sergeant Overson did not testify as an expert witness. Overson testified as to his background as a K9 handler as well as his involvement in this case. 2 AA 387-408. The State asked Overson about how he knew when his dog was alerting and what a dog alerts to. 2 AA 394-96, 401. Overson explained that as dogs gain more experience responding to real dispatch calls (as opposed to training with other officers only), the dogs learn to differentiate between those who are emitting apocrine and those who are not. 2 AA 401. Overson explained that apocrine is emitted when a suspect, or anyone else who has gone through a traumatic experience, has an "adrenaline dump." Id. When a dog smells the apocrine, it typically acts more aggressively then it would to a person not emitting that odor. 2 AA 402. Overson testified as a lay witness in describing what he perceived while working with his dog. Overson never stated that Matthews was emitting apocrine nor if that was the reason that his dog alerted to him. The State never portrayed nor argued that Overson was an expert.

Defense counsel did not object to this testimony. Instead, defense counsel cross-examined Overson on apocrine. 2 AA 404-05. During cross-examination, Overson explained, "I'm not an expert." 2 AA 405. So, to argue that the jury may

have believed that Overson was an expert fails because he himself dispelled those beliefs. Matthews also fails to provide any caselaw holding that K9 handlers have been found to be expert witnesses.

Matthews also argues that Overson's testimony was improper opinion testimony as to the ultimate issue of guilt. AOB at 32. Overson did not state that his dog bit Matthews because Matthews smelled like a criminal as Matthews suggests. Id. Instead, Overson stated that suspects, or anyone else who goes through a traumatic experience, will emit this apocrine that dogs alert to. 2 AA 401. Overson explained that anyone could emit this apocrine if their adrenaline has been going. Overson never stated that he knew whether Matthews was emitting apocrine nor if that was the reason that his dog alerted to Matthews. He simply explained that his dog alerted to Matthews in the bush, ran towards him, and was aggressive. 2 AA 397-98. Further, Overson never gave an opinion as to whether Matthews was involved in the shooting at 1271 Balzar Avenue or the carjacking. Thus, Matthews' argument fails.

Lastly, Matthews argues that the jury instructions further created this error.

AOB at 32-33. Matthews complains that the district court should have given a dual role instruction regarding expert and lay witnesses. Id. A dual role instruction was not required as Overson did not testify as an expert witness, as discussed above.

Matthews cites to Ninth Circuit caselaw to assert that the court should have sua sponte given this instruction and its failure to do so constitutes plain error. AOB at 32-33. First, United States v. Vera, 770 F.3d 1232, 1241-43 (9th Cir. 2014), dealt with a case agent who testified as an expert on interpreting code words regarding drug quantities and as a lay witness on his involvement in the investigation. There, the district court stated that it would give the dual role instruction, but ultimately the instruction was not given. Id. at 1243. There was no dispute that the case agent testified as an expert. Id. at 1244. The Ninth Circuit reversed in that case because the testimony relied on speculation. Id. at 1246-48.

Second, <u>United States v. Torralba-Mendia</u>, 784 F.3d 652, 659 (9th Cir. 2015), discussed a case agent who testified as an expert on alien smuggling organizations and as a lay witness regarding his involvement in the investigation. There was no dispute that the case agent testified as an expert. <u>Id.</u> at 657. While the Ninth Circuit found plain error in <u>Torralba-Mendia</u>, the court did not reverse his conviction because it found that the lack of an instruction did not substantially affect his rights. <u>Id.</u> at 659-62.

Here, Matthews has first failed to show that Overson testified as an expert witness, as discussed above. Even further, Matthews does not even attempt to show how the lack of the instruction affected his substantial rights. Thus, this claim fails.

# III. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN PROHIBITING AN UNTIMELY-DISCLOSED DEFENSE WITNESS FROM TESTIFYING

Matthews argues that the district court erred in precluding a defense witness from testifying based on untimely disclosure. <u>AOB</u> at 34-39. Matthews challenges this ruling under three areas: 1) NRS 174.234(1)(a); 2) NRS 174.233(1); and 3) Nevada Supreme Court Rule 4, Section IX. This Court reviews for an abuse of discretion. Mulder v. State, 116 Nev. 1, 12-13, 992 P.2d 845, 852 (2000).

On the sixth day of trial, defense counsel informed the State and the district court that it may be calling a new, unnoticed defense witness, Matthews' girlfriend back in 2006. 3 AA 619-22. Defense counsel admitted that she seemed hesitant to testify as she had not responded to counsel's last two communications with her. 3 AA 621. The State raised two main issues to this new information. 3 AA 622. First, she was an unnoticed witness. Id. Second, it was the sixth day of trial, so allowing her to testify would prejudice the State. Id. Defense counsel stated that at that time, he was not asking the court to rule on allowing her to testify because he had no contact with her after the initial contact. 3 AA 623. At the end of the same day, defense counsel again raised the issue of this potential witness and requested that if defense is able to talk with Matthews' ex-girlfriend, that she should be allowed to testify the following day. 4 AA 754. Upon questioning by the court, defense counsel confirmed that he had still not heard from her that day. 4 AA 754-55.

On the seventh day of trial, defense counsel stated that he spoke with the exgirlfriend the previous night. 4 AA 763. She stated that she is unable to physically come to Las Vegas to testify, so counsel requested that she be able to testify telephonically. <u>Id.</u> Then defense counsel explained how her statements would be able to come in under a hearsay exception or nonhearsay. 4 AA 763-64.

The State objected and raised three notice issues. 4 AA 764-65. First, this witness was never noticed and was raised the day before closing arguments in a murder trial. 4 AA 764. Second, there was additional notice required for witnesses who testify telephonically. <u>Id.</u> Third, the defense's proffer of her testimony indicated she would be a quasi-alibi witness and there had been no notice of such. 4 AA 764-65. The State also raised other concerns. One, that this case originated in 2006 and this witness was now being brought up. 4 AA 765. Two, even if the statement could be brought under a hearsay exception, it would allow the State to reach a myriad of subjects that had since been avoided at trial. 4 AA 765-66. Lastly, the State submitted that the State's case-in-chief would have been different if this quasi-alibi witness had been properly noticed because the State had noticed a witness that would have testified about what happened prior to the murder. 4 AA 766.

The court agreed that the witness would be an alibi witness based on the proffer. 4 AA 766. Ultimately, the court prohibited the witness from testifying due to lack of notice. 4 AA 768.

First, Matthews argues that the trial court abused its discretion under NRS 174.234(1)(a) in prohibiting the witness from testifying. <u>AOB</u> at 34-36. NRS 174.234(1)(a) states that the parties must disclose their notice of witnesses no less than five days before trial. The court shall prohibit a witness from testifying when the party acts in bad faith by not including the witness on the witness list. NRS 174.234(3)(a). Even if there is no bad faith, the court also has discretion to allow or prohibit witnesses from testifying when a party discloses a witness past this deadline. NRS 174.295(2).

Matthews contends that because the court did not find bad faith on his part, then it abused its discretion in prohibiting the witness from testifying. AOB at 34-36. This case originated in 2006, meaning Matthews had plenty of time in preparation for this second trial to find this witness. Matthews could have provided notice of this witness, even without knowing where she is, in hopes of finding her in time for trial. By defense counsel's own explanation, it only took a phone call to Matthews' mother and sister, and the sister was able to find this witness within the same day. 3 AA 619-20. Defense admitted that she seemed hesitant to testify as she did not respond to his text messages. 3 AA 621. The State argued below as to the prejudice. First, this issue was brought up on the sixth and seventh days of trial. 3 AA 619-22; 4 AA 763. Second, the State submitted that it's case-in-chief would have been different if this quasi-alibi witness had been properly noticed because the

State had noticed a witness that would have testified about what happened prior to the murder. 4 AA 766. Thus, the district court did not abuse its discretion in prohibiting this witness from testifying.

Next, Matthews argues that the trial court improperly precluded her testimony under NRS 174.233(4). <u>AOB</u> at 36-37. NRS 174.233(1) states that a defendant who intends to present evidence of an alibi must file a written notice no less than ten days before trial. That notice must also include the names of any witnesses who will testify to this alibi. NRS 174.233(1). Failure to comply with this statute results in the court's ability to exclude any evidence as to the alibi, except for the defendant's testimony. NRS 174.233(4).

The State argued below that this witness would be a quasi-alibi witness. 4 AA 764-65. The State pointed out that it was the defendant's statement essentially that the defense was trying to present with this witness, so the defendant could testify as to his own statement if he wished to do so. 4 AA 767. The State argued that it's case-in-chief would have been different if this quasi-alibi witness had been properly noticed because the State had noticed a witness that would have testified as to what happened prior to the murder. 4 AA 766. The court agreed that the witness would be offering an alibi. <u>Id.</u> While defense had revealed its theory to be that Matthews had a temporary restraining order for a house in that neighborhood where he was found,

they did not disclose this witness. Thus, the court had discretion to prohibit her testimony and did not err in doing so.

Lastly, Matthews argues that the court improperly precluded her testimony under the Nevada Supreme Court Rules, Part IX-A(A), Rule 4. <u>AOB</u> at 37-38. A party intending to have a witness testify telephonically must give notice not less than 14 days prior to trial. Rule 4(a). Matthews did not disclose this witness until the sixth day of trial. 3 AA 619-22. Then, defense asked for her to appear telephonically on the seventh day of trial. 4 AA 763. This timing does not comply with the rule. Thus, the court did not abuse its discretion in prohibiting her from testifying.

Further, Matthews suffered no prejudice from this witness not being able to testify. Defense admitted that she seemed hesitant to testify as she did not respond to his text messages. 3 AA 621. Also, the temporary restraining order came in as evidence, so the jury could still consider the defense's theory without this witness. 4 AA 753.

#### IV. THERE WAS NO PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT

Matthews argues that the State committed prosecutorial misconduct in closing and rebuttal arguments. <u>AOB</u> at 39-41. For claims of prosecutorial misconduct, this Court engages in a two-step analysis. <u>Valdez v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 1172, 1188, 196 P.3d 465, 476 (2008). First, this Court determines whether the prosecutor's conduct

was improper. <u>Id.</u> Second, if the conduct was improper, this Court determines whether that conduct warrants reversal. <u>Id.</u>

As to the first step of the analysis, prosecutors are allowed to make statements about the facts and inferences supported by the record. Thomas v. State, 120 Nev. 37, 48, 83 P.3d 818, 825 (2004). This Court views the statements in context and will not lightly find prosecutorial misconduct based upon a prosecutor's statements. Byars v. State, 130 Nev. \_\_\_\_, \_\_\_, 336 P.3d 939, 950–51 (2014).

As to the second step of the analysis, this Court will not reverse a conviction if the conduct was harmless error. <u>Valdez</u>, 124 Nev. at 1188, 196 P.3d at 476. Harmless-error review applies only if the defendant preserved the error for appellate review. <u>Id.</u> at 1190, 196 P.3d at 477. To preserve a claim of prosecutorial misconduct, the defendant must object to the misconduct at trial because this "allow[s] the district court to rule upon the objection, admonish the prosecutor, and instruct the jury." <u>Id.</u> (quoting <u>Hernandez v. State</u>, 118 Nev. 513, 525, 50 P.3d 1100, 1109 (2002)).

The harmless-error review standard depends on whether the prosecutorial misconduct is of a constitutional dimension. <u>Id.</u> at 1188–89, 196 P.3d at 476. If the error is of constitutional dimension, then the Court applies the <u>Chapman v. California</u>, 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S. Ct. 824 (1967) standard, which requires the State to demonstrate, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the error did not contribute to the

verdict. <u>Id.</u> at 1189, 196 P.3d at 476. If the error is not of constitutional dimension, this Court will reverse only if the error substantially affects the jury's verdict. <u>Id.</u>

There are two ways to determine if the error of constitutional dimension. One, the nature of the misconduct may control whether the error is constitutional. <u>Id.</u> at 1189, 196 P.3d at 477. Commenting on the exercise of a specific constitutional right is an example. <u>Id.</u> Two, the error may be constitutional if, in light of the proceedings as a whole, the misconduct "so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process." <u>Id.</u> (quoting <u>Darden v. Wainwright</u>, 477 U.S. 168, 181, 106 S. Ct. 2464 (1986)).

Claims of prosecutorial misconduct that have not been objected to at trial will not be reviewed on appeal unless they constitute "plain error." <u>Leonard v. State</u>, 17 P.3d 397, 415 (2001); <u>See Mitchell v. State</u>, 114 Nev. 1417, 971 P.2d 813, 819 (1998); <u>Rippo v. State</u>, 113 Nev. 1239, 946 P.2d 1017, 1030 (1997). Under this standard, plain error does not require reversal unless the defendant demonstrates that the error affected his substantial rights, by causing "actual prejudice or a miscarriage of justice." <u>Valdez</u>, 124 Nev. at 1190, 196 P.3d at 477 (quoting <u>Green v. State</u>, 119 Nev. 542, 545, 80 P.3d 93, 95 (2003)).

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